UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

Jeffrey Solomon,)
Plaintiff,)
VS.) Complaint) Civil Action No
Annie Dookhan, Donald F. Keenan,) /
Commonwealth of Massachusetts,	y
Suffolk District Attorney's Office,	/)
Norfolk District Attorney's Office,)
Defendants.)
The state of the s)

I. INTRODUCTION

This is an action for money damages for the violation of the Plaintiff's constitutional rights brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 and M.G. L. c. 12, § 111. Plaintiff Jeffrey Solomon ["Solomon"] alleges that all Defendants acting under color of law contributed or conspired to deprive him of his constitutionally protected rights.

Specifically, once Solomon was arrested by members of the Boston Police Department
Drug Control Unit ["DCU"] for selling a counterfeit substance, they forwarded the substances to
the Department of Public Health's Hinton Laboratory ["Hinton Laboratory"] in Jamaica Plain,
where former state chemist Annie Dookhan ["Dookhan"] falsified the results of the chemical tests.
At that time, Dookhan was engaged in large-scale criminal and fraudulent conduct, including
falsifying results, dry labbing, perjury, and forgery. Meanwhile, Sergeant Detective Donald F.
Keenan ["Keenan"] of the DCU destroyed exculpatory evidence, obstructed justice, engaged in
intimidation tactics, and committed perjury before the Grand Jury in order to assist the Suffolk
County District Attorney's Office in their prosecution. Solomon was consequently indicted and
threatened by the Boston Police Department and the Suffolk County District Attorney's Office

with two seven-year mandatory minimum sentences in the state correctional institution.

Contributing to the numerous violations of Solomon's civil rights, Secretary JudyAnn
Bigby failed to properly supervise, train, investigate, and monitor the employees of the Department
of Public Health and Hinton Laboratory which employed Dookhan. Likewise, the Department of
Public Health and its Commissioner Jon Auerbach failed to adequately supervise, train, and
monitor the employees of Hinton Laboratory, and then engaged in a cover-up of the offenses.

Moreover, the Norfolk and Suffolk Counties District Attorneys' Offices failed to adequately
supervise, train and monitor their Assistant District Attorneys, who communicated directly with
Dookhan and other chemists during the pendency of their criminal matters, including Solomon's
case.

These failures resulted in the deprivation of Solomon's state and federal constitutionally protected rights, including his procedural and substantive due process rights, and the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States.

II. JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is based upon 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1343, and on the pendent jurisdiction of this court to entertain a claim arising under state law and under the Constitution of the United States.

III. PARTIES

- 1. Plaintiff Jeffrey Solomon ["Solomon"] is a resident of Boston.
- Defendant Annie Dookhan ["Dookhan"] was at all times relevant to this complaint a chemist employed by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Public Health,

and at all times relevant to the complaint acted under color of state law. She is being sued in her individual as well as her official capacity with the Department of Public Health.

- 3. Defendant Donald F. Keenan ["Keenan"] was at all times relevant to this complaint a Drug Control Unit police officer employed by the City of Boston, is currently employed as a Sergeant Detective, and at all times relevant to the complaint acted under color of law. He is being sued in his individual capacity as a police officer for the City of Boston.
- 4. Defendant Commonwealth of Massachusetts ["Commonwealth"] is a sovereign state within

the United States of America.

- 5. The Suffolk District Attorney's Office ["Suffolk DA"] is the office responsible for the prosecution of state cases in Suffolk County. It has a primary office in Boston,

 Massachusetts. Its District Attorneys and Assistant District Attorneys prosecute criminal cases on behalf of the Commonwealth and act under color of state law.
- 6. The Norfolk District Attorney's Office ["Norfolk DA"] is the office responsible for the prosecution of criminal cases in Norfolk County. It has a primary office in Canton, Massachusetts. Its District Attorneys and Assistant District Attorneys prosecute criminal cases on behalf of the Commonwealth and act under color of state law.

IV. FACTS

- On December 12, 2010, Keenan was working with other DCU officers when he engaged
 Solomon in an undercover buy of alleged crack cocaine.
- 2. Upon being arrested, Solomon told one of the DCU officers that the alleged controlled substance was counterfeit and not cocaine. Using a "Narc Swipe," Keenan conducted a

preliminary field test on the substance for cocaine. If the substance sold was cocaine, the swipe and the substance would turn blue. Keenan swiped a piece of substance and noted no color change to either the substance or the swipe. Keenan determined the alleged cocaine to be counterfeit and charged Solomon with distribution of a counterfeit substance, a misdemeanor with a maximum penalty of one year in the house of correction.

- 3. Keenan then destroyed the "Narc Swipe" and threw away the piece of the substance that he field tested. Keenan forwarded the remainder of the substance to the State Department of Public Heath, Hinton Laboratory ["Hinton"] for chemical testing and analysis.
- 4. The alleged controlled substances were received by Hinton on December 16, 2010 and placed in its evidence safe. On February 28, 2011, the substances were released to chemist Dookhan, a Hinton employee.
- 5. On March 1, 2011, Dookhan falsely recorded that she conducted the following tests on the substances: a Cobalt Thiocynate spot test, a Gold Chloride Microcrystalline test, and a TLTA Microcrystalline test. In fact, Dookhan conducted no scientific testing on the substances. On the same date, Dookhan falsely recorded that the substances tested positive for cocaine.
- 6. Sometime between March 4 and March 7, 2011, chemist Corbett, a Hinton employee, allegedly conducted "confirmatory testing" of the substances. In fact, Corbett never conducted any testing. Moreover, Corbett was aware at that time that Dookhan was forging her initials on the resulting batch sheets. On March 7, 2011, Corbett recorded that she confirmed the presence of cocaine in the substances through testing by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry.

- Two drug certificates issued, signed by Dookhan and Corbett, falsely certifying that the substances submitted by Keenan were cocaine. On March 10, 2011 the substances were returned to the Hinton safe.
- 8. On April 13, 2011, Attorney Jennifer Sanders ["Attorney Sanders"] of the Committee for Public Counsel Services ["CPCS"] and Assistant District Attorney Mingo of the Suffolk County District Attorney's Office met with Keenan at the Boston Municipal Court to inspect the evidence.
- Keenan produced two bags of substances. Attorney Sanders inspected the substances and did not see any blue coloring on any of the seized substances.
- 10. Keenan stated that when he does field tests on substances, he throws the tested pieces on the ground, which is probably what happened to the piece that he allegedly swiped after he arrested Solomon. Keenan thereby admitted to destroying exculpatory evidence by failing to preserve or otherwise safeguard the results of the Narco Swipe field test.
- 11. Keenan then spoke privately with Attorney Sanders. Keenan began the conversation by saying he probably shouldn't say this, but that they had had a lot of problems with CPCS, and that they could make things easy or not.
- 12. Keenan told Sanders that Solomon had been around a long time and in Keenan's opinion, Solomon was not a good guy.
- 13. On July 1, 2011, Assistant District Attorney Tanya Platt ["ADA Platt"] of the Suffolk County District Attorney's office convened a grand jury hearing in which Keenan was the sole witness.

- 14. On that date, the Suffolk County District Attorney's Office elicited false testimony before the Grand Jury. Specifically, Keenan falsely testified in response to ADA Platt's questioning that because crack cocaine can be homemade, the mixture would not be consistent throughout the whole entire piece of crack cocaine. Keenan also falsely testified that although the preliminary field testing showed no color change consistent with cocaine, he later viewed the substance at an undisclosed date and observed a color change consistent with the presence of cocaine in the alleged substance.
- 15. At the request of the Suffolk County District Attorney's Office, Keenan introduced to the grand jury the two false certificates signed by Dookhan and Corbett.
- 16. At the request of the Suffolk County District Attorney's Office, and based on the evidence presented, the grand jury issued indictments against Solomon relevant to this complaint for Possession with Intent to Distribute a Class B Substance in a School Zone as a Subsequent Offense, and Distribution of a Class B Substance in a School Zone as a Subsequent Offense, such indictments carrying two mandatory minimum state prison sentences of seven years.
- 17. On October 7, 2011, ADA Platt received a letter from Dookhan responding to ADA Platt's request for discovery.
- 18. On November 17, 2011, ADA Platt provided Solomon with notice that she intended to call Dookhan and Corbett as expert witnesses should he intend to go to trial.
- 19. Along with the falsified analysis reports and certificates, Solomon was provided with a copy of Dookhan's Curriculum Vitae ["CV"] in which she falsely claimed to have received

- her Master of Science Degree in Chemistry from the University Of Massachusetts.
- 20. On September 27, 2012, the Crime Laboratory of the State Police Department retested the substances that were field tested by Keenan and allegedly analyzed by Dookhan and Corbett. No controlled substances were detected.
- 21. On September 28, 2012, Det. Lt. Robert Irwin of the Mass. State Police filed a "Statement of Probable Cause" in which he described Dookhan's false report of cocaine in Solomon's case, and sought a complaint charging Dookhan with obstructing justice, among other charges.
- 22. On October 5, 2012, the Commonwealth filed a nolle prosequi in its case against the Plaintiff, citing the State Police investigation that divulged Dookhan's specific misconduct in the Plaintiff's case.
- 23. On December 17, 2012, Dookhan was indicted in the Suffolk Superior Court in a fifteen count indictment for charges including intentionally misleading a person who is furthering a criminal investigation pursuant to M.G.L. c. 268 § 13B.
- 24. JudyAnn Bigby ["Secretary Bigby"] was at all times material to the allegations in this complaint the duly appointed Secretary of Executive Office of Health and Human Services ["EOHHS"] of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. As such, she was responsible for oversight of the Department of Public Health and acted under the color of state law.
- 25. Secretary Bigby was directly responsible for the policies, practices, and customs of the Hinton Laboratory employees, and for their supervision and training. Secretary Bigby was also the direct supervisor of the former Commissioner of Public Health, Jon Auerbach

["Commissioner Auerbach"].

- 26. Commissioner Auerbach was the duly appointed Public Health Commissioner at all times relevant to the complaint. As such, he oversaw the policies, customs and practices of the Hinton Lab and acted under color of state law.
- 27. At least by June 2011, Secretary Bigby was aware that Dookhan was testing and certifying substances at a rate that was fifty percent higher than any other chemist. She described Dookhan's extremely high productivity as, "a red flag that wasn't appropriately investigated."
- 28. Secretary Bigby and Commissioner Auerbach maintained outdated operating procedures for the Hinton Lab, and undertook no action toward independent accreditation.
- 29. As early as 2008, Auerbach met with one of Dookhan's supervisors to discuss the problems at Hinton lab.
- 30. Auerbach initiated an investigation of Dookhan's conduct in December 2011 which failed to produce the evidence of gross misconduct discovered by the State Police during their investigation months later.
- 31. At the time of Auerbach's investigation, the Hinton Lab was working from a grant with the State Police that required quarterly reports, including reports of gross misconduct.
 Auerbach therefore failed to notify the State Police of Dookhan's misconduct until several months later, while working out the wording of the gross negligence report.
- 32. In December, 2012, Commissioner Auerbach resigned from his post as Commissioner of the Department of Public Health. Upon his resignation, Auerbach issued this statement: "It

is clear that there was insufficient quality monitoring, reporting, and investigating on the part of supervisors and managers surrounding the former Department of Public Health drug lab in Jamaica Plain."

- 33. Linda Han ["Han"] was at all times relevant to this complaint employed by the Department of Public Health as the Director of Hinton Lab. As such, she created, maintained or implemented the policies, customs and practices of the Hinton Lab and acted under color of state law.
- 34. Julie Nassif ["Nassif"] was at all times relevant to this complaint employed by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Public Health and was in charge of the Division of Analytical Chemistry, including that at Hinton Lab. As such, she created, maintained or implemented the policies, customs and practices of the Hinton Lab and acted under color of state law. Han was Nassif's direct supervisor.
- 35. Auerbach intentionally withheld the findings of his investigation from certain supervisors of the Hinton Laboratory, including Han and Nassif (although with their knowledge), so that they would not be subject to examination in court.
- 36. Hinton lab supervisors Han and Nassif failed to monitor Dookhan adequately, failed to alert their superiors to problems, and allowed her to continue to have access to substances, to test substances, and to testify in court even after the breach in June 2011.
- 37. Charles Salemi ["Salemi"] was at all times relevant to this complaint employed by the Department of Public Health as the supervisor of operations. As such, he created, maintained or implemented the policies, customs and practices of the Hinton Lab and acted

under color of state law. He was supervised by Nassif.

- 38. Elizabeth O'Brien ["O'Brien"] was at all times relevant to this complaint employed by the Department of Public Health as a supervisory evidence officer at Hinton Lab. As such, she created, maintained or implemented the policies, customs and practices of the Hinton Lab and acted under color of state law. O'Brien was supervised by Nassif.
- 39. In September of 2012, the Attorney General's Office launched an investigation into the misconduct at Hinton. Based on interviews of Hinton employees, including Dookhan, the State Police reported the following:
 - A. Dookhan forged other chemists' and evidence officers' initials in an unknown number of instances, including on Quality Assurance and Quality Control documents. She ignored lab procedures by loading and running her own samples on the GC/MS.
 - B. Dookhan failed to properly run QC/QA test samples, instead purposefully making up test result numbers on the "Quality Control Daily Injector Test" on the GC/MS.
 - C. Dookhan maintained a level of production of test results that concerned supervisors and co-workers, often analyzing more samples in a week than they did in a month. She was submitting racks upon racks of sample vials to the confirmatory chemists, and leaving many samples out on her bench top.
 - D. Dookhan exhibited a pattern of failing basic laboratory procedures, including documentation issues, failing to calibrate balances, and having a work space filled with numerous vials open to cross contamination.

- E. Dookhan was allowed to access the evidence office computers in order to enter and look up data even after she was suspended from lab duties.
- F. Dookhan engaged in the practice of "dry labbing," looking at the samples instead of testing them with the presumptive testing. Dookhan was not using the proper method of inspecting slides prepared for a microscope. This resulted in an unknown number of samples coming back as heroin when Dookhan had supposedly tested it and found it to be cocaine and vice versa. Dookhan would then alter these samples so that they would come out the way she wanted.
- G. Dookhan was contacted directly by ADAs about specific samples, which she would then "pull" for analysis, even out of order, despite lab policies forbidding both this contact and action.
- H. Dookhan accessed the labs numerous times while suspended and also many times without any supervision of the evidence room.
- I. Dookhan had a key and unfettered access to the evidence room and safe.
- J. The Laboratory had a culture of lax oversight, as many issues with Dookhan were allowed to continue for years, even having her responsible for training and for some QA/QC procedures.
- K. In 2010, Dookhan's work was audited due to concerns about her workload.
 However, samples were not retested. Rather, it appears paperwork was simply reviewed.
- L. The Department of Public Health did not retain records when a sample was

- resubmitted and retested; the number of any retests was not tracked or audited in any manner.
- M. Numerous lab personnel expressed concerns with Dookhan's workload, documentation errors, blatant forgeries, and questionable test results, but no action was taken against her.
- N. The laboratory evidence room and evidence safe were accessible to an unknown amount of chemists and employees of the laboratory.
- O. The procedures to restrict access to the evidence room were ignored and circumvented. The safe was found open and unattended, was left propped open when it was "busy," and was accessible by codes and keys that had not been changed in over a decade.
- P. An unknown number of chemists had keys to the safe.
- Q. The palm reader access point to the evidence room was not recording those who entered, or that information was not preserved properly, or was destroyed, and as of the date of this complaint the State Police Investigation has not uncovered any records of access to the evidence room via the palm reader.
- R. In June 2011, Han and Nassif discovered Annie Dookhan had breached protocol and removed 90 samples from the evidence room without authorization.
- S. Han and Nassif did not properly investigate the specific breach of protocol, her workload, her results, and/or her general lack of adherence to protocol. They also failed to make written findings of her resubmittals or other QC/QA issues that were

recorded.

- T. The method of samples being checked in and out suffered from lack of oversight, as whole sets of numbers could be pulled by Dookhan without anyone noticing.
- U. The evidence officer or officers had a pattern of laxity when it came to tracking samples and access to the evidence room and safe, computer terminals, and written logbooks.
- V. On or around December 2011, when it was clear that an unknown number of keys opened the safe, Auerbach began an investigation into Dookhan.
- W. Salemi started checking keys, and perhaps switching them out.
- X. Although Nassiff began checking keys for Dookhan and a few others, no plan to check every key was made, nor to take an inventory of who had keys to the evidence room.
- Y. The Hinton lab did not appear to have or to enforce any safeguards or policies to prevent assistant district attorneys and police officers from contacting a specific chemist about a specific case or cases.
- Z. Dookhan lied about receiving a Master's Degree in Chemistry from University of Massachusetts as listed in her resume or curriculum vitae, which she gave to the Assistant District Attorney handling Solomon's case. This false information was used by the District Attorney's Office through the course of discovery in preparation for trial.

- 40. At all times relevant to the allegations contained in this complaint, Han, Nassif, Salemi and O'Brien created, maintained and/or implemented the policy, custom and practice of failing to conduct oversight, investigate complaints, report violations, enforce safeguards or policies, and ensure the integrity of the samples while stored at the Hinton Laboratory Evidence Room.
- 41. District Attorney Conley ["Conley"] was at all times material to the allegations in the complaint the duly elected District Attorney of Suffolk County and acted under color of state law.
- 42. District Attorney Michael W. Morrissey ["Morrissey"] was at all times material to the allegations in the complaint the duly elected District Attorney of Norfolk County and acted under color of state law.
- 43. William Keating ["Keating"] was at all times material to the allegations in the complaint either the duly elected District Attorney of Norfolk County or the former District Attorney of Norfolk County and acted under color of state law.
- 44. Secretary Bigby, Commissioner Auerbach, Conley, Morrissey and Keating all failed to prohibit direct contact between DPH chemists and prosecuting Assistant District Attorneys prior to testing the substances in the cases being prosecuted. They also failed to train their employees concerning any existing policies of communicating between Hinton lab and the District Attorneys' Offices. The Suffolk County District Attorney's Office failed to enact any internal policy concerning communications between chemists and assistant district attorneys. Rather, the policy, custom and practice provided for direct communication between the chemists and prosecuting assistant district attorneys prior to testing the alleged

substances.

- 45. Between 2009 and 2011, Norfolk Assistant District Attorney George Papachristos

 ["Papachristos"] and Dookhan corresponded by email of a personal nature on numerous occasions in violation of DPH policy.
- 46. In 2009, Papachristos reported the emails and his concern regarding the nature of his relationship with Dookhan to then Norfolk District Attorney Keating who took no action.
 Rather, Papachristos continued for two years to engage in and foster a personal relationship with Dookhan.
- 47. As a result of Keating's failure to supervise Papachristos and divulge and investigate the inappropriate contact between his employee and Dookhan discovered as early as 2009, Dookhan continued to demonstrate favoritism to Norfolk employee officers and prosecutors to the detriment of all cases she then handled and all future cases.
- 48. The Defendants' acts and omissions described throughout paragraphs 1-47 of this complaint directly and proximately caused or contributed to the deprivations of the Plaintiff's rights, thereby causing the plaintiff to suffer severe permanent personal and emotional injuries, including but not limited to loss of liberty, loss of income, humiliation, emotional distress and the loss of companionship.

V. CLAIMS

COUNT I:

VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. §1983 BY DEFENDANTS
DOOKHAN, KEENAN, THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS,
THE SUFFOLK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE,
AND THE NORFOLK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

- 49. The Plaintiff restates the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 47 and incorporates said paragraphs herein as paragraph 48.
- 50. By the actions described in paragraphs 1 through 47, all Defendant's to this action so named above, acting under color of law deprived the Plaintiff of due process of law, procedurally and substantively, in violation of 42 U.S.C. §1983 and the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and are jointly liable.
- 51. As a proximate result of these actions, Solomon has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

COUNT II:

<u>VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 CONSPIRACY BY</u> <u>DEFENDANTS ANNIE DOOKHAN, DONALD KEENAN, AND SUFFOLK COUNTY</u> DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

- 52. The Plaintiff repeats and restates the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 50 and incorporates said paragraphs herein as paragraph 52.
- 53. By the actions described in paragraphs 1 through 52, the Defendants so named in this count conspired together to deprive the Plaintiff of exculpatory evidence, a fair trial, and his procedural and substantive constitutional rights and are jointly liable.
- 54. As a proximate result of these actions, Solomon has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

COUNT III:

<u>VIOLATION OF M.G.L. c. 12 §111 BY DEFENDANT'S KEENAN, SUFFOLK COUNTY</u> DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, AND DOOKHAN

55. The Plaintiff restates the allegations in paragraph 1 through 54 and incorporates said

paragraphs herein as paragraph 55.

- 56. By the actions described in paragraphs 1 through 55, Defendants Donald Keenan, Suffolk County DA's Office, and Dookhan deprived the Plaintiff of his civil rights, secured by the Constitutions of the United States and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, through the use of threats, intimidation, and coercion, in violation of M. G. L. c. 12, §111.
- 57. As a proximate result of these actions, Solomon has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

COUNT IV:

CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE M.G.L. c. 12 §111 BY DEFENDANT'S KEENAN, SUFFOLK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, AND DOOKHAN

- 58. The Plaintiff restates the allegations in paragraph 1 through 57 and incorporates said paragraphs herein as paragraph 58.
- 59. By the actions described in paragraphs 1 through 58, Defendants Keenan, Suffolk County DA's Office, and Dookhan, while acting under color of state law, did conspire to deprive the Plaintiff of his civil rights, secured by the Constitutions of the United States and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, through the use of threats, intimidation, and coercion, in violation of M.G.L. c. 12, §111.
- 60. As a proximate result of these actions, Solomon has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court:

Award compensatory damages, including prejudgment interest, against all the Defendants
jointly and severally;

- 2. Award punitive damages, including prejudgment interest, against all the Defendants;
- Award the costs of this action, including reasonable attorney's fees and other associated expenses.

JURY DEMAND

Pursuant to Rule 38 (b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial for all issues so triable.

Jeffrey Solomon, By his Attorneys,

/s/ Victoria Kelleher

/s/ Joseph M. Perullo

Victoria Kelleher BBO# 637908 15 Church Street Salem, MA 01970 (978)744-4126- p (978)744-4127 - f ykelleher@verizon.net Joseph M. Perullo BBO# 670542 185 Devonshire Street, Suite 200 Boston, MA 02110 (617)423-0030-p (617)556-9965-f jp@josephperullo.com

Dated: February 1, 2013

JS 44 (Rev. 12/12)

CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS Jeffrey Solomon			DEFENDANTS Annie Dookhan, Donald F. Keenan, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Suffolk County District Attorney's Office, Norfolk County District Attorney's Office				
(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Norfolk (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)			County of Residence of First Listed Defendant Norfolk (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.				
(c) Attorneys (Firm Nume, Victoria Kelleher (978) 74 15 Church Street Salem MA 01970		(617) 556-9965 Street, Ste 200 10	Attorneys (If Known)	or Example to Service			
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	CTION (Place on "X" in One Box O	Only) III. C		RINCIPAL PARTIES	Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintiff		
□ 3 U.S. Government ≥ 3 Federal Question Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party)			(For Diversity Cases Only) PT Uzen of This State				
☐ 2 US Government Defendant	① 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship of Par		nzen of Another State 💢 🖸	2			
			lizen or Subject of a Foreign Country	3 🗇 3 Foreign Nation			
IV. NATURE OF SUIT	(Place on 'X' in One Box Only) TORTS		FORFEITURE/PENALTY	BANKRUPTCY	OTHER STATUTES		
CONTRACT 110 Insurance 120 Marine 130 Miller Act 140 Negotiable Instrument 150 Recovery of Overpayment & Enforcement of Judgment 151 Medicare Act 152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loans (Excludes Veterans) 153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits 160 Stockholders' Suns 190 Other Contract 190 Contract Product Liability 196 Franchise	PERSONAL INJURY ☐ 310 Airplane ☐ 315 Airplane Product Liability ☐ 320 Assault, Libel & Slander ☐ 330 Federal Employers' Liability ☐ 340 Marine ☐ 345 Personal Injury Product Liability ☐ 368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability ☐ 1368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability ☐ 1369 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability	RSONAL INJURY Personal Injury Product Liability Health Care/ Phannaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability Asbestos Personal Injury Product	625 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881 690 Other	□ 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 □ 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157 □ PROPERTY RIGHTS □ 820 Copyrights □ 830 Patent □ 840 Trademark □ SOCIAL SECURITY	□ 375 False Claims Act □ 400 State Reapportionment □ 410 Antitrust □ 430 Banks and Banking □ 450 Commerce □ 460 Deportation □ 470 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations □ 430 Consumer Credit □ 490 Cable/Sat TV		
	☐ 350 Motor Vehicle ☐ 370 ☐ 355 Motor Vehicle ☐ 371 Product Liability ☐ 380 ☐ 360 Other Personal	Other Fraud Truth in Lending Other Personal Property Damage Property Damage Product Liability	Act 720 Labor/Management Relations 740 Railway Labor Act 751 Family and Medical Leave Act 790 Other Labor Litigation	☐ 862 Black Lung (923) ☐ 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) ☐ 864 SSID Title XVI ☐ 865 RSI (405(g))	Rechange September Statutory Actions Act September Statutory Appeal of Agency Decision September Statutes Statutes		
REAL PROPERTY 210 Land Condemnation 220 Foreclosure 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 240 Torts to Land 245 Tort Product Liability	▼ 440 Other Civil Rights Hal □ 441 Voting □ 463 □ 442 Employment □ 510 □ 443 Housing/	ONER PETITIONS Deas Corpus: Alien Detainee Motions to Vacate Sentence General	791 Employee Retirement Income Security Act	FEDERAL TAX SUITS □ 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant) □ 871 IRS—Third Party 26 USC 7609			
290 All Other Real Property	□ 445 Amer w/Disabilities - Employment Uther: □ 446 Amer w/Disabilities - 540 Mandamus & Other □ 448 Education □ 550 Civil Rights □ 550 Prison Condition 560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of Confinement		IMMIGRATION 462 Naturalization Application 465 Other Immigration Actions				
	noved from 3 Reman te Court Appell:	ale Court Re	(specify)	r District Litigation			
VI. CAUSE OF ACTION				-	non's Constitutional rights		
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:	CHECK IF THIS IS A C UNDER RULE 23, F.R.	LASS ACTION	DEMAND S		if demanded in complaint:		
VIII. RELATED CASI IF ANY	(See instructions): JUDG	Б		DOCKET NUMBER			
DATE 02/02/2013		nature of attorney Victoria Kelleher	OF RECORD				
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY RECEIPT # AM	10UNT	APPLYING 1FP	JUDGE	MAG. JUD	OGE		

JS 44 Reverse (Rev. 12/12)

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

- I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then the official, giving both name and title.
- (b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)
- (c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting in this section "(see attachment)".
- In Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X" in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below. United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box. Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked. Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE; federal question actions take precedence over diversity cases.)
- III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this section for each principal party.
- IV. Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If the nature of suit cannot be determined, be sure the cause of action, in Section VI below, is sufficient to enable the deputy clerk or the statistical clerk(s) in the Administrative Office to determine the nature of suit. If the cause fits more than one nature of suit, select the most definitive.
- V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the six boxes.
 - Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.
 - Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441. When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.
 - Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing date.
 - Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date. Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or multidistrict litigation transfers.
 - Multidistrict Litigation. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1407. When this box is checked, do not check (5) above.
- VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service
- VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P. Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction. Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.
- VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

1.	Title of case (name of first party on each side only) Jeffrey Solomon v. Annie Dookhan									
2.	-	Category In which the case belongs based upon the numbered nature of suit code listed on the civil cover sheet. (See local ule 40.1(a)(1)).								
		i.	410, 441, 470, 535,	830*, 891, 893,	895, R.23, REGARDLE	ESS OF NA	ATURE OF 8	SUIT.		
	[/]	11.	110, 130, 140, 160, 740, 790, 820*, 840		240, 290,320,362, 370, 1.	371, 380, 4	430, 440, 44	2, 44	3, 445, 446, 44	18, 710, 720,
	<u> </u>	III.			220, 245, 310, 315, 336 180, 490, 510, 530, 540					
			*Also complete AC	120 or AO 121	. for patent, trademarl	k or copyri	ight cases.			
3.					rule 49.1(g)). If more st filed case in this co		orior related	i cası	e has been fil	ed in this
4.	Has a pr	ior action	between the same	parties and bas	ed on the same claim	ever been	filed in this	s cou	rt?	
						YES]	NO	$[\checkmark]$	
5.	Does the §2403)	e complai	nt in this case ques	tion the constitu	itionality of an act of	congress :	affecting th	e pub	ilic interest?	(See 28 USC
	32400)					YES		NO	[7]	
	If so, is	the U.S.A	. or an officer, agent	or employee of	the U.S. a party?	-				
						YE\$	_]	NO		
6.	is this c	ase requi	red to be heard and	determined by a	a district court of thre	e judges p	ursuant to	title 2	8 USC §2284	?
						YES [NO	\checkmark	
7.	Do <u>all</u> of Massaci	the parti nusetts ("	es in this action, ex governmental agend	cluding governi des"), residing	mental agencies of the in Massachusetts res	e united st ilde in the	ates and th same divisi	e Coi ion? ·	mmonwealth · (See Local I	of Rule 40.1(d)).
						YES	∠] i	NO		
		A.	lf yes, in which div	4 = 41=	he non-governmental	parties re	side?			,
			Eastern Division	$[\checkmark]$	Central Division		,	West	ern Division	
		В.	If no, in which divi residing in Massac		ority of the plaintiffs o	or the only	parties, ex	cludii	ng governme	ntal agencies,
			Eastern Division	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	Central Division		•	West	ern Division	
8.	If filing a	Notice o	f Removal - are ther sheet identifying th	e any motions p	ending in the state co	ourt requir	ing the atte	ntion	of this Court	? (If yes,
	suomit a	i separati	s sneet identifying ti	ie motions)		YES [NO		
	EASE TY									
\T1	ORNEY'S	NAME _	/ictoria Kelleher			n 				
			Street, Salem MA 0	1970						
EL	EPHONE	NO. 978	-744-4126							
							(C	ategoi	ryForm12-2011.	wpd - 12/2011)